

coldst

Øğ

Guide to Ensure Gender-Responsive Action in Eliminating Plastic Pollution

Sein

NOT

ant C

GUIDANCE DOCUMENT

# Contents

3	Executive summary
3	Overaching principles
5	Introduction
5	A note on terms
7	1 Why gender and inclusion are key to plastic action
8	Amiyna's story
11	2 Principles for gender-inclusive plastic pollution action
12	A Gender-mainstreaming guidance for all actors in the plastics value chain and plastic pollution action community
12	1 Disaggregate collected and shared data by sex as well as other variables as appropriate. Include gender indicators in the collection of data where relevant
12	2 If a sex or gender-based inequality in terms of risk, access, exposure, benefit or outcome is identified, undertake an analysis of laws, policies, norms and practices to locate the causes of the inequality
13	3 Facilitate the public availability of collected and analysed gender-related data and evidence
14	4 Include clear accountability, at the senior level and for all staff, for gender mainstreaming in the action area
14	5 Undertake systematic and effective capacity-building for gender mainstreaming for staff, project implementers, evaluators, clients, beneficiaries and other stakeholders
15	6 Promote and support the meaningful participation of diverse individuals and communities when planning, implementing, monitoring and evaluating an action
15	7 Allocate adequate levels of resources to implement the above principles for each plastic pollution action
16	B Actor-specific guidance to ensure gender-sensitive and responsive action
16	8 Integrate gender considerations into all actions and take gender-targeted action in order to reduce identified inequalities and discriminatory practices
16	Policy-makers/regulators
20	Industry: plastic producers and users
22	Innovators
23	Civil society and others in the plastic pollution action space
24	Academia
26	Contributors
27	Endnotes
	© 2021 World Economic Forum. All rights

reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means, including photocopying and recording, or by any information storage and retrieval system.

# **Executive summary**

Gender equality is an important human right in itself, but it is also widely acknowledged as a basis for sustainable development, particularly in environmental protection. Given women's central role in entrepreneurship, resource management, waste disposal and unpaid household labour and informal sector work, policies that aim to support women's rights and livelihoods should naturally complement efforts to transition to a more sustainable and circular plastics economy.<sup>1</sup> The Global Plastic Action Partnership (GPAP) has created this guidance to support actors in the plastics value chain and plastic pollution action community to adopt a gender-sensitive approach in their areas of work. The guidance provides several important principles for gender mainstreaming in this sector, along with detailed guidance on each principle, made specific to a variety of stakeholders, including policymakers, industry and business leaders, innovators, civil society organizations and academia.

### **Overarching principles**

In every action, process or decision, women and traditionally marginalized communities need to be seen and treated as integral drivers of the solutions – and not solely as victims who may be adversely affected. While women may be most affected by plastic pollution, this also means they are in the best position to create and implement sustainable solutions that will benefit the most vulnerable segments of society.

Actions such as investment and design solutions should be informed by a prior gender analysis or gender-sensitive considerations<sup>2</sup> that are incorporated from the outset; gender and inclusion should not be introduced late in the process, after most of the decisions have already been made.

# 1 Gender-mainstreaming principles for all actors in the plastics value chain and pollution action space

- A. Use evidence collection and gender analysis to determine who is being affected disproportionately and why
- Disaggregate collected and shared data by sex as well as other variables as appropriate. Include gender indicators in the collection of data where relevant.
- 2. If a sex- or gender-based inequality in terms of risk, access, exposure, benefit or outcome is identified, undertake an analysis of laws, policies, norms and practices to locate the causes of the inequality.
- B. Establish accountability through monitoring, implementation, reviewing and reporting
- Facilitate the public availability of collected and analysed gender-related data and evidence.

- 4. Include clear accountability, at the senior level and for all staff, for gender mainstreaming in the action area.
- C. Build capacity, promote diversity and dedicate resources through effective management
- Undertake systematic and effective capacity-building for gender mainstreaming for staff, project implementers, evaluators, clients, beneficiaries and other stakeholders.
- 6. Promote and support the meaningful participation of diverse individuals and communities when planning, implementing, monitoring and evaluating an action.
- 7. Allocate adequate levels of resources to implement the above principles for each plastic pollution action.

# 2 Actor-specific guidance to ensure gender-sensitive and responsive action

8. Integrate gender considerations into all actions and take gender-targeted action to reduce identified inequalities and discriminatory practices.

#### A. Policy-makers/regulators

- Issue: Occupational segregation in the waste management sector with women concentrated in the informal economy and lower-paid, lowerskills jobs.
- Solution: Conduct relevant gender analyses to inform the development of new government policy and regulations related to waste management systems and the plastics industry. Once a gender analysis is complete, solutions should be proposed that help formalize waste management systems and include strategies and measures to ensure that women and men currently working in the informal sector do not lose income or employment due to this transition.
- **Issue:** Current guidelines for safe exposure levels to plastics are not gender-inclusive.
- Solution: Ensure occupational health and safety regulations in the plastics industry are gendersensitive by conducting a review of existing policy and regulations related to exposure to plastic and worker and public protection to ensure that women's and men's different sensitivity levels to toxic plastics is taken into account with regards to safe exposure levels.
- Issue: Behavioural change campaigns that do not take into account gender considerations will be less effective and can reinforce harmful gender norms.
- Solution: Ensure that behavioural change campaigns on household plastic waste are gender-targeted and gender-responsive.
- Issue: Economic investment and the expansion of formal economy sectors often benefit men more than women due to existing unequal power relations and privileges held by men.
- Solution: Set job quotas and implement gender-responsive budgeting to ensure financial resources and opportunities benefit women and men equally.

#### B. Industry: plastic producers and users

- Issue: A lack of women in diverse roles in plastics production and the oil and gas industry is perpetuating gender inequality and reducing profits and innovation.
- Solution: Increase diversity at all levels of the company by strengthening the inflow of diverse women; maintaining women's enthusiasm; and increasing women's representation at the top, particularly women from under-represented communities.

- Issue: Safe exposure levels to plastics are not the same for women and men, and safety measures often do not reflect the greater impact on women at lower exposure levels.
- Solution: Review safety measures, redesign plastic production processes, substitute hazardous chemicals and incorporate green chemistry.

#### C. Innovators

- Issue: Sustainable solutions to plastic pollution such as plastics alternatives need to give greater consideration to the people who disproportionately purchase/use them.
- **Solution:** Support diverse innovators/designers and gender-sensitive market and product research and design.

### D. Civil society and others in the plastic pollution action space

- Issue: Currently, few actors in the plastic pollution action community transparently and systematically include gender considerations and analysis in their platforms and actions.
- Solution: Have anti-plastic pollution actors systematically mainstream gender into their work, making actions and solutions more effective and sustainable.
- Issue: Financing, investing and access to capital are harder to access for women, and particularly women from marginalized communities.
- Solution: Undertake targeted investments by seeking out and systematically prioritizing women-led (particularly women from underfunded communities) and community-led projects.

#### E. Academia

- Issue: A lack of research and evidence on plastics related to sex and gender and their intersection with other identity factors.<sup>3</sup>
- Solution: Conduct academic research on the plastic value chain, plastic pollution and the transition to the circular economy as they relate to the intersection of sex and gender with other identity factors. This could include identifying the key research gaps; holding information and dissemination sessions on the results of the research findings; ensuring research proposals include a gender-sensitive, intersectional gender methodology; developing intersectional gender methodology guidelines; and providing training to researchers on how to conduct intersectional gender-sensitive research and gender analyses.

# Introduction

Gender equality is enshrined as a human right in many international declarations and conventions, including the Rio+20 outcome document *The Future We Want*,<sup>4</sup> the Beijing Declaration and Platform for Action and the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women (CEDAW). The Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs), negotiated and adopted by United Nations members states in 2015, include "achieve gender equality and empower all women and girls" as goal number 5, and "reduce inequality within and among countries" as goal number 10.

Gender equality is an important human right in itself, but it is also widely acknowledged as a basis for sustainable development, particularly in the environmental management dimension. Given women's central role in entrepreneurship, resource management, waste disposal and unpaid household labour and informal sector work, policies that aim to support women's rights and livelihoods should naturally complement efforts to transition to a more sustainable and circular plastics economy.<sup>5</sup>

Current linear plastics and waste management economies are not set up effectively to reduce and eliminate the huge amount of plastic waste humans generate. There is an urgent need to fasttrack the transition to a circular plastics economy to address the global and local challenges generated by plastic waste. This involves all actors in the plastics value chain and plastic pollution action space. In each of their spheres of influence, actors must use this opportunity for radical change

A note on terms

An important clarification: **"Gender" does not equal "sex"**. Sex refers to the biological differences, such as the genitalia and genetic differences, between males, females and intersex persons. Gender refers to the socially constructed norms that impose and determine power, roles and relationships between groups of women, men, boys and girls in all their diversity, and which operate at various levels, from households to communities and institutions. Gender also refers to expressions and identities of women, men, boys, girls and gender-diverse people. Gender cannot in the plastics economy to dismantle negative gender norms and roles within plastics production, as well as plastics collection, recycling and waste management. Such attention to gender and equality is not a side priority, but is essential to a successful transition.

For this reason, the Global Plastic Action Partnership created this guidance to support actors in the plastics value chain and pollution sphere, – such as policy-makers/regulators, companies, innovators, civil society and academia – to be gender-sensitive and responsive. The guidance provides:

- A. A summary of the principles for mainstreaming<sup>6</sup> gender into the plastics value chain and plastic pollution action space
- B. Detailed guidance on each principle. All principles are general to the plastics value chain and plastic pollution action space. They can therefore apply to all stakeholders and actors. The principles are practical steps to be taken in order to integrate gender considerations into actions and institutional processes as well as actions by individuals
- C. Stakeholder-specific guidance to ensure gender-sensitive and responsive action, with opportunities for policy-makers, industry, innovators, civil society and academia to adopt gender-sensitive and responsive approaches to their work

be separated from other social and structural determinants (race, disability, sexual orientation, class, etc.) that shape people's socioeconomic status and opportunities and must be analysed in context.

Gender mainstreaming is not a synonym for adding women into a project. Gender mainstreaming is also not the same as gender parity. Mainstreaming involves looking at the lived experience, needs and interests of diverse women and men, and adapting projects to challenge existing social structures in order to place women and men on an even footing.

"Gender mainstreaming goes beyond counting the number of women and men in a room. Rather, gender mainstreaming addresses the gender inequalities that are at the core of project, policy or process, leading to more gender-responsive actions."7 Gender mainstreaming requires a contextual analysis of the needs, priorities, roles and experiences of women and men, as well as the integration of specific actions to address any gender-based inequalities that may have emerged from this analysis.<sup>8</sup> Gender mainstreaming in the context of this guidance is about embedding the consideration of gender into all aspects of an action. Gender equality is not about one action to target women, but about systematically taking the different perspectives, experiences and needs of diverse women and men into account.

Intersectionality is an important concept in mainstreaming gender. Intersectionality is the complex, cumulative way in which the effects of multiple forms of discrimination (such as racism, sexism and classism) combine, overlap or intersect, especially in the experiences of marginalized individuals or groups. Kimberlé Crenshaw, a legal scholar and activist, introduced the theory of intersectionality, the idea that when it comes to thinking about how inequalities persist, categories such as gender, race and class are best understood as overlapping and mutually constitutive rather than isolated and distinct.<sup>9</sup> An intersectional gender analysis underscores that women and men are not homogenous groups and that there is a need to consider overlapping identity factors when assessing needs, impact, risks, etc. For example, sex or gender intersecting with age, ethnicity, religion, health status, sexual orientation, disability, location, economic status, education level, migrant status, geographic area (rural/urban and/ or geographic unit of relevance) to create a unique form of discrimination.

Being **gender-inclusive** means actively and meaningfully including the voices of men, women and gender-diverse persons from various backgrounds in planning and decision-making, as well as ensuring they have equal access to opportunities and benefits arising from actions taken. A gender-sensitive approach<sup>10</sup> to any action **considers gender norms, roles and relations**, **in order not to have that action further gender inequality**; however, it **does not address inequality** generated by existing unequal norms, roles or relations. This approach indicates gender awareness, although often no direct remedial action is developed to combat gender inequality. It can be seen as a "do no harm" approach. This should be the minimum approach for any investment, design solution, project, programme or other action in the plastic pollution action space.

Example of a gender-sensitive approach: When decisions are made by a board about what design solutions to invest in, the gender impact of the solutions are considered and any with a negative impact on one gender are discarded. The bidding process has also been designed to consider gender bias in final decisions.

A gender-responsive approach<sup>11</sup> to an action considers gender norms, roles and relations for women and men and how these affect opportunities, exposures, risks, outcomes and effects. It considers women's and men's specific needs and addresses the causes of gender-based inequities. Such an approach includes ways to transform harmful gender norms, roles and relations. One objective of a gender-responsive action will be to promote gender equality, including progressive changes in power relationships between women and men. It can be seen as a "make society more equal with my action" approach. Almost all actions have the potential to transform society's norms, roles and relationships. With some analysis and consultation of the people affected, there is often a way to support gender equality and positive gender norms alongside meeting the primary objective.

Example of a gender-responsive approach: When decisions are made by a board about what design solutions to invest in, the gender impact of the solutions is considered and any with a positive impact that redresses historical gender inequalities are prioritized. The bidding process has also been designed to consider gender bias, and firms with staff gender parity, including senior leadership, are prioritized.

### 

# Why gender and inclusion are key to plastic action



A gender-responsive transition to the circular economy, in which existing inequalities in the plastics value chain and pollution action space are systematically addressed, directly benefits the individuals and groups involved. It creates safer, better and more opportunities for traditionally marginalized communities, including women. A gender-responsive transition is also essential to successful and sustainable change in how we address plastic pollution - an issue that affects women and men differently in terms of opportunities, risks, exposure and health outcomes due to biological and social factors. This is particularly true for women and men from marginalized communities who often earn their incomes in the informal economy and from lowerpaid, higher-risk jobs. Achieving the shift towards a sustainable circular economy requires solutions that consider and respond to the disparate needs of diverse communities.

The exclusion of women and under-represented groups from decision-making at the highest levels of policy, operations, planning and programme design has led to a fragmented response to plastic pollution. Numerous studies indicate that women's attitudes towards plastic pollution and prioritization of environmental and human health lead to different behaviour and decision-making. Women's overrepresentation in the informal labour sector, as opposed to the formal plastics waste management economy, has meant they not only benefit less from their labour, but are in less of a position to influence their sector and environment.

In their work for the Swedish International Development Cooperation Agency, Beth Woroniuk and Johanna Schalkwyk found that "despite women's relatively high involvement at the local level, men are more likely to have access to institutions that set priorities and make decisions regarding municipal infrastructure. Community consultations processes often fail to take gender inequalities into consideration and thus neglect women's preferences. Unless explicit measures are taken to ensure women's participation, their priorities, responsibilities and needs will not be heard."<sup>12</sup>

#### Amiyna's story

1 Amiyna, like her mother, works as a waste picker in a landfill. Most men in her neighborhood work in the government-run recycling plant. They have health insurance, sick leave and regulations that protect them at work. Amiyna works without protection and often has to work even if she is feeling ill. The recycling plant doesn't say it, but everyone knows they hire men only because the work is considered dangerous. Despite the many formal jobs in plastic sorting, recycling and disposal, Amiyna did not think to apply because the other women in her family work for the family business and, in any case, she has seen only men working in the formal economy waste jobs. Exclusion from the more formalized, powerful spaces in the plastics value chain occurs despite the fact that women around the world are more often the ones making the decisions regarding plastic purchases for the household and how to dispose of the plastic at the end of use. Solutions to plastic pollution will continue to fall short if the actors who have the most potential to effect change and who are most affected are not at the helm.

The key gender equality issues in the existing linear plastics economy that need to be addressed in the transition to a circular plastics economy are focused in the areas of:

- Negative gendered health impacts for both women and men, particularly those from marginalized communities
- Limited or non-existent gender-inclusive waste management policies
- Occupational segregation in both the informal and formal waste management sectors, which most often favours men
- Lack of diversity on research and design teams and lack of diverse consultation on design solutions
- Gender differences in consumer behaviour and unpaid labour related to plastics use and disposal

One way of looking at these issues is through the story of Amiyna, a woman who is directly and indirectly affected by gendered and discriminatory roles, norms and relations in the plastics value chain and her wider society. Amiyna lives in a city in which single-use plastics are not banned and waste from other countries is regularly shipped to the outskirts. Amiyna is living in poverty, and comes from a community and society in which social mobility is rare due to ethnic stereotypes and relations.

- Women's participation in the informal waste management sector (often as unpaid family labour) is disproportionately high in many countries.
- Women are also often involved at the lower end of the waste sorting/recycling value chain and their work takes place in municipal waste, dumpsites and landfills while the higher-value businesses are predominantly owned or operated by men.<sup>13</sup>
- Female informal-sector waste workers also report that they experience high rates of sexual harassment and risk of sexual assault.<sup>14</sup>

- 2 Due to her mother and father's work in the landfill, Amiyna has been exposed from birth to components of plastics that will increase her likelihood of having breast cancer later in life. It was not possible for her mother to take maternity leave during pregnancy due to her informal work status, nor did she know there were risks from plastic components exposure to her foetus.
- 3 As Amiyna grows up, she will be continuously exposed to these components. First, her parents regularly take her with them to work, where her mother collects old plastics components for recycling and her father smelts them. She will be more affected by exposure to toxic chemicals than her brothers, who will spend more time in school, being prioritized for education. Secondly, she will be more exposed than others, mostly men, in the community who work in formal recycling plants, because she, unlike them, does not have protective gear to shield her from the plastic fumes that she is consistently inhaling.

Even if she worked in a formal recycling plant, however, she would not be protected because the regulations on safe exposure levels were based on studies that solely investigated safe levels for men, since only men worked in recycling plants at the time they were conducted.

When she is 13 years old, Amiyna gets her first 4 period. She and her mother must now decide on what menstrual hygiene method to use. Like the vast majority of menstruators in their country, they cannot afford sanitary products so must use often unsafe materials such as rags and sawdust. No one has ever talked to Amiyna about her period, and she feels uncomfortable discussing it with anyone in her community. Despite the fact that disposable menstrual products are meant to be provided free to adolescents through a government initiative, Amiyna is missed by the programme because she does not attend school or have a formal workplace, and her dwelling is not on the formal grid. These factors also mean that Amiyna's small community is often missed or overlooked in planning processes and consultations for the larger district in which she lives. Some community members also believe that their exclusion is rooted in the fact that they are an ethnic minority group that lacks respect and representation from the majority population and government administration.

- Research studies show that some plastics components act as endocrine disruptors (EDCs). Pre-birth or early-life exposure to certain EDCs can increase the likelihood of future breast cancer diagnosis in both women and men.<sup>15</sup>
- Plastic pollution and exposure to plastics within the home, workplace and general environment have a differential impact on women's and men's health due to gender roles at home and work; and women's physiology (higher body fat content) makes them more vulnerable to chemical exposure than men.<sup>16</sup>
- Women are often also employed in the lowerpaid and less-skilled positions in production plants and therefore are more likely to be exposed to working with toxic chemicals in the plastics industry.
- Informal economy work is also precarious, not protected by national occupational health and safety laws, and the workers are not eligible for social protection benefits.
- In many countries, the majority of young women are unaware of the details of menstruation; in terms of sanitary products, they often cannot afford them, and do not know how to use or have a hygienic place in which to use them.
- Disposable single-use plastic-based sanitary products are not available to the poorest people. Reusable products such as a silicone cup can be a good alternative to unsafe materials, but high costs, cultural taboos (and lack of behavioural change campaigns to address them) may result in a lack of take-up.
- When designing cultural acceptability, safety and simplicity, as well as financial accessibility, may not be taken into account without a diverse design team whose members understand the needs of the broader population. Women, however, are vastly under-represented in the science, engineering, technology and mathematics (STEM) field and in technical roles in the plastics industry, and market research may often miss marginalized communities in product research and design.

Amiyna now has a family of her own. On top of her work in waste collection and sorting, Amiyna is responsible for the family's shopping, cooking and cleaning, as well as caring for her children, parents-in-law and husband, as is the custom in her community. She makes decisions about how to dispose of waste in her home. Due to economic constraints, when Amiyna buys products with plastic packaging, she often reuses the plastic longer than it is safe to do so, and when she disposes of it, it often ends up in the river, on the ground or burned without containment processes. There are community workers who come door-todoor to provide her with information on how she can avoid allowing her plastic waste to leak into the nearby river. She does not want to pollute her community, but the disposal centre is too far away and she already spends all of her "free time" on her domestic duties.

5

6 Around the moment when Amiyna will have grandchildren, her husband passes away. Amiyna has no pension because she was never in the formal economy and will now need to rely on the formal wage earners in her extended family and community for economic security, making her more vulnerable to old-age poverty. Women are over-represented in low-productivity sectors, informal work and part-time work. Not only do they have more problems procuring paid employment and generally receive lower wages and fewer benefits than men, they also suffer from higher levels of irregular payments. Frequently, they are expected or forced to give their earnings to their husbands or other family members.

- There are differences in consumer behaviour related to plastics and plastic waste disposal, with women often having significantly more favourable attitudes regarding environmental and ethical practices and their willingness to use their consumer power to influence companies and governments to change these.<sup>17</sup>
- However, solutions and behavioural change campaigns must take into account the needs and impact on women, particularly considering that the burden of change and extra time needed will largely be borne by them.

 These gaps during women's working years feed significant gender gaps in old-age income security, in the form of far fewer women being eligible for contributory pension payouts and earning substantially lower income from work late in life.<sup>18</sup>

# 2 Principles for gender-inclusive plastic pollution action



### A Gender mainstreaming guidance for all actors in the plastics value chain and plastic pollution action community

Principle 1

1 Disaggregate collected and shared data by sex as well as other variables as appropriate. Include gender indicators in the collection of data where relevant

#### Rationale:

Data disaggregation is a fundamental step in policy analysis, product research, marketing and project planning and implementation. It allows the actor to understand the true needs and experience of a population, instead of taking an average number, which can mask extreme privileges held by some populations compared with others. Aggregated data will often lead to fragmented actions that do not provide an accurate reflection of reality. As has been widely noted by plastic pollution action stakeholders, sex-disaggregated information, particularly on health and paid and unpaid labour, is missing in the plastic pollution action space. The same is also true with regard to other communities that often have very different experiences and impacts within the plastics sector.

#### Implementation notes:

- Data should be disaggregated by sex and any of the following as appropriate and available: age, ethnicity, religion, health status, sexual orientation and/or gender identity, disability, location, economic status, education level, migrant status, geographic area (rural/urban and/or geographic unit of relevance). These stratifiers include the internationally prohibited grounds of discrimination.
- Gender indicators should also be included in data collection where relevant. While sexdisaggregated data refers to collecting and breaking down data separately for women and men, gender indicators go deeper as they

consider wider gender inequalities and gender bias in data collection methods and tools. In addition, gender indicators have the potential to reflect different groups of women and men and support the analysis of intersecting inequalities (see above listed stratifiers).<sup>19</sup>

- When not available, the collection of, or advocating for the collection of disaggregated data should be a priority action.<sup>20</sup>
- Data collection should be undertaken with adequate safeguards for confidentiality and anonymity, and safe data storage, in accordance with international research ethics standards.
- Time-use surveys are useful to better understand gender-differentiated roles and responsibilities and illustrate existing gender-differentiated time burdens that in many countries lead women to suffer from time poverty, limiting their lives, livelihoods and empowerment in myriad ways, including limiting opportunities to participate in incomegenerating activities, education and leisure time. Time-use surveys could be used, for example, to assess waste management labour (paid and unpaid) in the informal economy or time spent on household plastics shopping, use, recycling and waste management. It could also be used to assess the impact of pilot solutions and products on the time of women and men.<sup>21</sup>

#### Principle 2

#### If a sex- or gender-based inequality in terms of risk, access, exposure, benefit or outcome is identified, undertake an analysis of laws, policies, norms and practices to locate the causes of the inequality

#### Rationale:

Analysis of the root causes of inequalities faced by specific populations is necessary to develop gender-sensitive or responsive action, as well as for monitoring and evaluation. It facilitates the adaptation of policies, products, projects and programmes to the needs of those disproportionately affected by targeting the deeper issue leading to inequality as part of the wider action.

#### Implementation notes:

- Analyse quantitative and qualitative evidence. Quantitative evidence includes e.g. census, surveys, administrative data; qualitative data includes e.g. interviews and user surveys.
- Identify root causes of inequality that explain the inequalities pinpointed in the data or secondary sources. These will be related to,

for example, laws, policies, norms and practices that affect women and men differently, and particularly those from marginalized populations. Marginalized populations often include persons living in rural areas, people with disabilities, those living in the lowest wealth quintiles, young persons and religious, ethnic and racialized minorities. It is essential not to look at women and men as a single homogenous group as some women and men face different forms and levels of discrimination. Analysing the intersections of these forms of discrimination is the only way to isolate populations that are the most negatively affected by actions.

- To identify root causes of inequality, in some cases it may be necessary to look at secondary sources and analysis<sup>22</sup> to identify some of the deeper-rooted and hidden gender norms that are difficult to extract due to cultural taboos or because the data collection process was not sensitive to gender considerations in the first place.
- Outline inequalities and their root causes in key documents, including in planning, workplans, strategies, frameworks,

action plans, guidelines, reports and other technical documents.

- Analyse the inequalities in a way that supports mainstreaming of gender from the outset.
- In practice, a gender analysis will often result in the identification of barriers and inequalities faced by women, girls and men who do not conform to traditional male stereotypes, particularly those from marginalized communities. Be aware, however, that a gender analysis may also uncover poor outcomes or increased exposures for men due to masculinist societal expectations and norms.

#### Tip:

It can often be difficult to undertake a gender analysis on large projects without some background knowledge on gender and human rights.<sup>23</sup> **Consider investing in expertise in this area** to ensure action is not perpetuating gender inequality by reinforcing harmful norms, roles and relations or inadvertently privileging one group at the expense of another. Free online courses are available, such as the GBA+ course, an introduction to intersectional gender analysis from the Canadian government.<sup>24</sup>

#### Principle 3 Facilitate the public availability of collected and analysed genderrelated data and evidence

#### Rationale:

Without public availability of data, policy-makers, implementers and others cannot make informed decisions on investing, project planning and programme design, including budgeting, design of participatory approaches, implementation plans, and monitoring and evaluation.

Sharing of data with and by civil society organizations, international organizations, the private sector and government actors strengthens the sector's ability to drive forward a genderresponsive plastic action agenda. In particular, it may be constructive to share gender inequality and plastics data with large multisectoral platforms as a way to expand important messages outside of the plastic pollution action space and among governments, civil society and the public.

#### Implementation notes:

 Any knowledge or data that has been collected on gender equality in plastic pollution should be systematically documented and publicly shared in order to counter the current deficit of public information in this sphere.

- Any organizational communications plan should include gender equality as an integral component to help ensure that gender and plastics data and knowledge is systematically disseminated where available.
- Organizations that have undertaken a gender audit (see principle 4) may publicly share the results and/or recommendations for transparency and encourage other organizations to undertake similar action.
- Gender-sensitive language, data and evidence should be integrated into all materials, prioritizing public materials. Recall that gender goes beyond female and male categories and organizations should provide accurate and understandable evidence, data and content on female/male subpopulation groups, paying attention to individuals and groups that have historically faced marginalization, discrimination or stigmatization. For a better understanding of this intersectional approach to gender, see "A note on terms" in the introduction.

#### Principle 4

# Include clear accountability, at the senior level and for all staff, for gender mainstreaming in the action area

#### Rationale:

Under SDG 5.1, all governments are tasked with ending all forms of discrimination against all women and girls everywhere. Within the private sector, most companies have committed to gender equality within their institutions and processes and in their corporate social responsibility commitments to the public. For civil society and international organizations, human rights and gender equality have long served as the grounding principles that drive mandates.

Gender mainstreaming is therefore not a novel concept, nor is it irrelevant to any plastic pollution actors. Institutions that integrate gender considerations into their core processes ensure that gender will be taken into account for the duration of their mandate – not only within the institution itself, but in the programmatic work they undertake. Gender mainstreaming ensures that organizations illustrate the importance of gender-responsive working environments, policies, products, programmes and processes by putting these into practice.

A main part of gender mainstreaming for every plastic pollution actor is to ensure that all staff are accountable for mainstreaming gender into their work to fulfill their mandate, as opposed to limiting the work to a designated gender team or focal point. This will involve capacity-building (see principle 5) and the allocation of adequate resources (see principle 7), but it starts with accountability.

#### Implementation notes:

 To achieve accountability, all terms of reference for staff, including at the senior level, should incorporate responsibility for mainstreaming gender into all deliverables and allocate training time to undertake a training on gender mainstreaming.

- Accountability must also be for the programme, not just its staff. Reporting, monitoring and evaluation of the programme should be gender-sensitive. This means ensuring that programme performance indicators are gender-sensitive and measurable and that sex-disaggregated baseline data is identified and collected to assist in the monitoring of the programme's gender equality results.
- Another useful tool for programme accountability is a gender audit, which may be undertaken every five years or more. There are many excellent audits that an organization can undertake (see endnote for suggestions).<sup>25</sup> A gender audit is a useful tool to ensure transparent and unbiased evaluation of gender mainstreaming and is valued by investors, clients, partners, the public and other stakeholders.
- Accountability goes beyond programmatic work and extends to accountability for an inclusive culture at the organization. All workers must feel safe, empowered and that they do not face discrimination in any form. This translates to a:
  - Detailed and visible code of conduct that includes a definition of and prohibition of sexual harassment<sup>26</sup> and clear instructions for complaints
  - Senior-level accountability (articulated in the terms of reference) for ensuring promotion of gender equality, diversity and nondiscrimination within the team, and internal and public championing of gender equality

#### Principle 5

#### Undertake systematic and effective capacity-building for gender mainstreaming for staff, project implementers, evaluators, clients, beneficiaries and other stakeholders

#### Rationale:

Mainstreaming gender into diverse areas of the plastics value chain and plastic pollution action space requires significant capacity and knowledge. The best way to ensure systematic gender-sensitive action is to ensure that considering and seeking to practise gender equality is second nature to all staff. Gender-sensitive action is not a one-time initiative, but rather requires persistent and dedicated integration into all actions.

#### Implementation notes:

- All staff should have the necessary tools and knowledge to integrate gender-sensitive and responsive actions into their work. This requires mandatory gender mainstreaming training for all staff, including senior managers.
- Details on training courses can be found on the UN Women Training for Gender Equality Community of Practice (CoP) platform.<sup>27</sup> UN Women has also produced a Compendium of Good Practices for Training in Gender Equality.<sup>28</sup> The simple and quick Gender Based Analysis+ training by the Canadian government is useful as a free online resource.<sup>29</sup> Additionally, there are many tailored gender-mainstreaming, gender equality and gender-awareness trainings for the private and public sector. Many private companies have also created tailored online trainings courses that can be purchased by organizations for their staff.

#### Principle 6

#### Promote and support the meaningful participation of diverse individuals and communities when planning, implementing, monitoring and evaluating an action

#### Rationale:

Meaningful participation requires that individuals are entitled to participate in the decisions that directly affect them. Meaningful participation is a human rights principle and a means to more effective action, as it aims to ensure all perspectives and voices are heard and integrated.

#### Implementation notes:

- Meaningful participation requires that individuals and/or the organizations that represent them participate in the decisions that directly affect them, including in regards to the design, implementation and monitoring and evaluation of the action, project and design solution, together with external or advisory groups for programmatic or normative work. This includes, for example, women and men and people with non-binary identities when programmes directly affect them.
- Meaningful participation may take different forms depending on the actors, including informing people with balanced, objective information, gaining feedback from the affected population in a community, involving or working directly with communities, partnering with affected communities in each aspect of decision-making, including the development of plastic alternatives and identification of solutions, and empowering communities to retain ultimate control over the key decisions that affect their well-being.<sup>30</sup>

- Meaningful participation should also be sought beyond sex categories to include other intersecting identifications, conditions or statuses, such as people with disabilities, adolescents, older people, Indigenous populations, ethnic minorities, Afro-descendants, people identifying as LGBTI, migrants and many other groups.
- Diverse participation from a multidisciplinary and geographic perspective is also important in governance. Whatever the governance structure at the organization, department, team, etc., it should be inclusive of gender diversity by ensuring 50/50 gender parity and geographic balance (where appropriate). When ensuring gender balance, it is not enough to consider only gender, which will often lead to only the most privileged women and men in a society having a voice. Consider diverse women and men, including people with disabilities, LGBTI persons, people from racialized groups and those from marginalized communities.
- When hosting an event, ensure it is genderinclusive.<sup>31</sup> Ensure that hosted panels and panels that are attended by members of the organization are gender-inclusive: see, for instance, the panel parity pledge by the International Gender Champions.<sup>32</sup> This is a pledge to host and sit on only gender-inclusive panels. It also enables the leadership to craft its own gender equality goals publicly.

# Principle 7 Allocate adequate levels of resources to implement the above principles for each plastic pollution action

#### Rationale:

The fulfilment of the other seven criteria is reliant on adequate funding for planning, programme design, implementation, capacity-building, etc.

#### Implementation notes:

- Resources are required to support disaggregation and analysis of data; to collect further evidence if needed, planning and implementing remedial actions to address gaps in mainstreaming of gender; to bring forward accountability mechanisms and the participation of individuals and communities; and to address capacitybuilding needs.
- The level of funding required will differ depending on the action, so a specific target is not provided here. However, the allocated budget should be commensurate with the expected achievement.

 To ensure accountability for meeting the funding needs of gender equality objectives in the programmatic work, budgets should be measured by a financial resource-tracking mechanism to quantify disbursement of funds that promote gender equality and women's empowerment (see section on policy-makers under principle 8 for more information and resources on gender-responsive budgeting).

### Actor-specific guidance to ensure gender-sensitive and responsive action

Principle 8 Integrate gender considerations into all actions and take gendertargeted action in order to reduce identified inequalities and discriminatory practices

#### Rationale:

Gender mainstreaming is important across the entire value chain in order to achieve a sustainable solution to plastic pollution. The exclusion of women and marginalized groups from decision-making at the highest levels of policy, operations, planning and programme design has led to a fragmented response to plastic pollution. Numerous studies indicate that women's attitude towards plastic pollution and prioritization of health and profit lead to different behaviour and decisionmaking. Women's over-representation in the informal sector, as opposed to the formal plastics waste management economy, has meant that not only do they benefit less from their labour, but they are in less of a position to influence their sector and the environment.

Exclusion from the more formalized, powerful spaces in the plastics value chain occurs despite the fact that women around the world are more often the ones making the decisions regarding plastics purchases for the households and the disposal of plastic waste at the end of use. Finally, women and men have different risks, exposure and impact from plastic pollution due to biological and socioeconomic factors. No meaningful transition to a circular plastics economy can take place that does not meet the needs of all of the people who stand to lose or benefit.

#### Policy-makers/regulators

#### Issue: Occupational segregation in the waste management sector, with women concentrated in the informal economy and lower-paid, lowerskills jobs

At the waste management level of the value chain, gender equality would mean better protection for workers, more women participating in the formal economy and more sustainable solutions.

There is significant occupational gender segregation in the informal plastics industry, with women's participation in the informal waste management sector disproportionately high in many countries.<sup>33</sup> In this context, women may also be working as unpaid family workers or have

#### General implementation notes:

- An action that is gender-sensitive or gender-responsive will look very different for different actors. This is why the following sections are tailored to different value-chain actors. The chief executive officer of a design solutions company might consider becoming a Global Gender Champion and commit to sitting on panels with gender parity. The manager of a plastic waste strategy might systematically employ women from marginalized communities who are often found in the informal economy, adapting work schedules to their needs for flexible work.
- When taking action, an analysis of the gender implications will allow the actors to ensure that at a minimum they are not contributing to gender inequality; ideally, the actions can also contribute to dismantling existing inequalities.
- For actions involving measurement such as baseline surveys and monitoring and evaluation, gender-inclusive metrics and measurement methodologies are essential to drive informed action and tackle plastic pollution issues at source. Those who are not measured will not be accounted for in the solution. Therefore, it is essential that any metrics and measurement methodologies include systematic sexdisaggregation and gender indicators in the baseline and throughout the lifetime of the data-taking.

limited decision-making authority about how the businesses operate.

Women are also often involved at the lower end of the waste sorting/recycling value chain and their work takes place in municipal waste sites, dumpsites and landfills, while the higher-value businesses in the recycling sector are predominantly owned or operated by men.<sup>34</sup> Informal economy work is also precarious and not protected by national laws, and the workers are not eligible for social protection benefits. Female informal-sector waste workers also report that they experience high rates of sexual harassment and the risk of sexual assault.<sup>35</sup> Informal-sector waste management work is likely to be reduced significantly in the transition to a more circular plastics economy, and case studies from formalization in several countries indicate that women disproportionately lose out on jobs once formalized, due to various factors.<sup>36</sup> Related solutions and new approaches therefore also need to find ways to ensure that they include gender-inclusive mitigation strategies for those who will lose out on employment and income and ensure that the employment and income gains generated are both equitable and do not reinforce existing gender imbalances and inequalities. There is an urgent need to ensure that both women and men working in this sector are able to benefit from the shift to more formalsector work.

### Solution: Make waste management work for women

The first step for policy-makers will be to conduct relevant gender analyses to inform the development of new government policy and regulations related to waste management systems and the plastics industry. This includes using data to determine which types of occupational segregation already exist, why women and men are concentrated in certain occupations and how this affects women's and men's incomes in the sector. It will also include determining:

- What are the gender-specific occupational challenges, hazards or safety issues of working with waste?
- What are the needs of women and men workers in relation to their domestic/household labour roles?

Once a gender analysis is complete, solutions should be proposed that help formalize waste management systems, particularly with regard to the recycling of plastics, and include strategies and measures to ensure that women and men currently working in the informal sector do not lose income or employment due to this transition.

Note that not all solutions and innovations need to be top-down or science-driven. There are many examples of community-based waste management solutions – often initiated by local women's organizations – that have been successfully scaled up and represent viable models that can be applied in multiple contexts. Investing in such schemes has generated a good return for all stakeholders involved. In practice, this means supporting the formalization of existing informal systems and collectives and ensuring that the flexibility needed by women working in the informal economy is maintained in the transition. When assessing a solution, consider:

- Are there existing community solutions that already do this well or that could be adapted to meet the need?
- Will the proposed solution lead to any changes in female and male employment in either the informal or formal waste management sector? Who will lose or gain income? Will working conditions and input into related decisionmaking change for either sex?
- What are the non-financial barriers to the adoption of profitable circular economy approaches?
- Are public consultations regarding the location of future waste collection sites organized at times and places that allow both women and men to participate actively?
- Are consultations with the private sector on circular economy-related issues inclusive of all types and sizes of businesses, including small- and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) and microenterprises, plus businesses owned by women – noting that the majority of women business owners are found in SMEs (combined with microenterprises).
- That related services, such as healthcare, childcare and maternity and paternity leave, are necessary to ensure women can participate equally to men.

During the transition to more formalized waste management work, it is essential to support workers in the informal economy by developing a safe means for informal-sector waste workers to exercise their labour and social rights. SDG 5.4 establishes a target to "recognize and value unpaid care and domestic work through the provision of public services, infrastructure and social protection policies and the promotion of shared responsibility within the household and the family as nationally appropriate". Much of the informal economy labour borne by women is unpaid family labour. Women are also often in the informal economy in order to accommodate their domestic labour roles. Governments should build awareness of women's social rights (access to education, legal recourse against crime, access to healthcare, etc.) among informal-sector waste workers and ensure that social protection policies reach them.37

### Issue: Current guidelines for safe exposure levels to plastics are not gender-inclusive

There is a critical knowledge gap globally in sexbased differential exposures, risks and effects related to plastic. Plastic pollution and exposure to plastic have a differential impact on women's and men's health for two reasons. The first is that women's and men's different gender roles at home and work can lead to them being exposed to different degrees of hazardous plastic waste or chemical components. Women are often employed in the lower-paid and less-skilled positions in production plants. Thus, even though there are fewer women than men working in the plastics industry, women are more likely to be exposed to working with toxic chemicals. The second reason is that women's bodies generally have a higher proportion of fat and this fat provides a greater reservoir for bioaccumulating and lipophilic (fat-loving) chemicals. This means that women exposed to these compounds often have higher concentrations of stored toxic chemicals in their bodies than men who experience a similar degree of exposure.<sup>38</sup>

A review of the gendered health impacts of exposure to plastics, especially in production, finds that there are sex-specific health impacts for both sexes. For example, women exposed to plastic pollution at work either before pregnancy and/or during their first trimester can give birth to babies with specific birth defects.<sup>39</sup> Bisphenol A (BPA) and other endocrine disruptors can interfere with male sperm in terms of motility, sperm count and concentration. This, in turn, can hamper conception and fertility.<sup>40</sup> Effects from exposure to these chemicals also appear to be occurring at much lower levels than those established by various governments as being safe for daily exposures to both female and male employees in the workplace.41

Research studies also show that some plastics components act as endocrine disruptors (EDCs). When there is pre-birth or early-life exposure to certain EDCs it can increase the likelihood of future breast cancer diagnosis (noting that breast cancer affects both women and men). In many studies, the levels of toxic chemicals such as phthalates, BPA and styrene found in male workers who work with PVC pellets or epoxy resin are significantly higher than those found in the general population. This is significant as the levels measured in these workers are at levels in which laboratory animals produce breast tumours and other adverse health effects.<sup>42</sup>

The Center for Disease Control and Prevention has also reported that women had significantly higher levels of 10 of the 116 toxic chemicals for which they were tested. This exposure extends beyond the workplace, as well, with three of the 10 chemicals in their study found to be phthalates – chemicals commonly found in health and beauty products and plastics and linked to birth defects.<sup>43</sup> Safe exposure levels must take sex (biological differences) and gender (social factors such as who uses the product more) into account when considering safety.

Many studies and regulations on plastics risk and exposure and occupational health and safety do not systematically take sex differentials into account. There is a need to revisit the question of safe exposure levels and ensure that related regulations take these gender-based physiological differences into account.

# Solution: Ensure occupational health and safety regulations in the plastics industry are gender-sensitive

Regulators should conduct a review of existing policy and regulations related to exposure to plastic and worker and public protection to ensure that women's and men's different sensitivity levels to toxic plastics is considered with regards to safe exposure levels.

- The review should also assess whether and how women and men were considered in studies on which the regulations are based.
  The main questions of the review should be: Are existing policies and regulations related to waste management and plastic production based on safe exposure levels data for both women and men? Do the guidelines reflect the different ways in which exposure to toxic plastic components affect women and men? If not, what changes are needed?
- The answer may also lead to the decision that more data is needed to determine safe exposure levels for women, as women have often historically been left out of health studies. In this case, investing in a literature review or more data collection may be necessary.

Once gender-sensitive safe exposure levels are established, **regulations should be developed**, **adapted and enforced on occupational health and safety, as well as clear labelling** of personal care, cosmetics, cleaning products and paints containing microplastics. This should include a timeline on the decomposition of all ingredients in consumer products, and transparency about ingredients and procedures throughout the supply chain.<sup>44</sup>

#### Issue: Behavioural change campaigns that do not take into account gender considerations will be less effective and can reinforce harmful gender norms

The difference in the disposable time women and men have in their off-work hours means that women and men often view domestic waste and its disposal quite differently.<sup>45</sup> They often have differing views about what they regard as waste.<sup>46</sup> Research carried out in Sweden shows that women there are more likely to feel concern about their ecological footprint then men (61% women compared to 43% men). They are also more willing to reduce their carbon emissions by buying from companies and producers whose activity mitigates climate change, such as organic food producers.<sup>47</sup> A recent study in Indonesia, Viet Nam and the Philippines found that overall men in these countries are more knowledgeable about what happens to waste, but that women are more willing to learn about waste management.48

Gender-targeted behavioural change campaigns are effective and sustainable because they account for the decision-making roles within the household and target the people most able to effect change.<sup>49</sup> However, behavioural change campaigns, particularly those related to household domestic labour, may inadvertently reinforce existing harmful gender roles if they don't purposefully seek to dismantle gendered stereotypes about the roles of women and men. Similarly, there is a growing understanding that the labour burden of behavioural change at the household level is often borne by women, who may also be blamed for plastics entering the environment, despite often having no other choice or alternatives.<sup>50</sup> The extra domestic work generated by change, such as forgoing certain products that had made domestic and care work easier, often falls disproportionately on the shoulders of women, who already bear a larger load of domestic and care work in every country in the world.<sup>51</sup>

#### Solution: Ensure that behavioural change campaigns on household plastic waste are gender-targeted and gender-responsive

Consumer education programmes designed to get members of the public to reduce their use of single-use plastics should incorporate a gender analysis to determine gender roles, norms and relations regarding household decision-making, labour and inequalities. Such an analysis will need to consider other factors such as income, ethnicity, rural/urban location and education levels of respondents as gender norms, roles and relations differ considerably across these population groups. Such analyses will help target the programme to make it more effective and sustainable, taking into account the perspectives, needs and experiences of diverse populations within the country or region. Any education programme, but particularly those that are gender-targeted, must ensure that harmful gender stereotypes are not perpetuated. For a better understanding of what harmful gender stereotypes are, see the UK's Advertising Standards Authority's report Advertising Guidance on Depicting Gender Stereotypes Likely to Cause Harm or Serious or Widespread Offence.52 This provides some initial guidance on the types of stereotypes to avoid.

### With regards to **campaigns aimed at reducing household plastic waste**, consider:

- What are women's and men's different perceptions of household waste management?
- Who (male or female) makes the consumer decisions regarding which plastic products to purchase and whether to buy goods wrapped in plastic?
- What are the different roles of women and men with regards to household waste management in different contexts (e.g. income levels, rural/ urban locations)? How will this be taken into account without perpetuating stereotypes about women's role within the home?
- Who (male or female) has the greatest understanding of and commitment to household

waste management issues related to the disposal and recycling of plastic waste?

- Will the behavioural change increase women or men's workloads? If so, how will this be addressed in the programme to more equally distribute the extra burden of change among women and men?
- How can the change campaign help address the unequal burden of unpaid domestic labour placed on women?

### With regard to **plastic waste regulations and change management**, consider:

- What are the attitudes of women and men of different age groups to recycling and the adoption of new waste regulation?
- Which groups of consumers (female/male, at what age, etc.) are most concerned about the generation of plastic waste and are willing to "vote" with their purchasing power to buy only products that are sustainable in nature?
- What are the attitudes of women and men towards any changes needed in consumer behaviour to reduce plastic waste (e.g. use of cloth bags or bringing their own containers for bulk buying, etc.)?
- For women and men, how much unpaid time will any changes in consumer behaviour required to eliminate plastic waste generate?
  Will this be likely to affect the degree to which male or female consumers adopt new plastic products and related consumer behaviour?
- What are the most effective ways to communicate with female/male members of the public of different ages about plastic waste issues?
- How do women and men in different age groups, locations and ethnic groups and at different income levels prefer to communicate? How can we use this information to inform our marketing and communications strategies?
- How can we adapt campaigns to account for gender differences in order to make the campaign more effective without using or perpetuating harmful gender stereotypes?

Issue: Economic investment and expansion of formal-economy sectors often benefits men more than women due to existing unequal power relations and privileges held by men Tackling plastic pollution will involve investing in several new areas, including research, waste management jobs, education and enforcement. Traditionally, those who hold the power tend to hire/take into consideration people who look like them or to whom they relate most. Women remain under-represented in public life, which means that government policy, including budgets, may not take their needs and priorities into account. For example, entitlement to state benefits and pensions are often tied to formal paid employment. Women who work in the informal plastics economy or who do not work full time throughout their lives because they are caring for children, parents or other family members may not qualify for these benefits. At the same time, most governments base their budgets on those sections of the economy on which data is gathered - the formal, paid labour market and census surveys that require an official residence. When producing a budget, a policy-maker will look at these figures and may ignore other relevant factors because the data is missing. However, estimates of the unpaid economy show that it is worth at least as much as, if not more than, the paid economy. But unpaid caring, cleaning, child-rearing and domestic food production are all unmeasured and may therefore not be considered when policy is made.53

This is particularly relevant to the plastics value chain, which is highly segregated by gender, not only in the formal vs. formal economy, but also at the sector and occupational levels. Women's unpaid labour, and how that affects their involvement in plastics consumption and waste as well as their paid labour in the plastics value chain, needs to be assessed and included in investment and budgeting.

#### Solution: Set job quotas and implement gender-responsive budgeting to ensure that financial resources and opportunities benefit women and men equally

Where new jobs are created, ensure that women and men have equal opportunities and are equally represented at all occupational levels. For example, an increase in resources to enforce violations of environmental regulations related to the release of plastic waste into rivers, oceans and wild dumps by private-sector companies should ensure that an equitable number of enforcement positions are held by women and men through strict quotas at all occupational levels.

Adopt gender-responsive budgeting for the budget allocated to implementing a plastic pollution policy.<sup>54</sup> Gender-responsive budget initiatives are not "budgets for women", although they will inevitably examine spending on services specifically aimed at women to see if they meet women's needs. Gender-responsive budgeting also does not advocate dividing budget expenditure 50/50 between women and men. Instead, the budget is examined from a gender perspective, to analyse how it will meet and respond to the different needs of everyone, including women and men, girls and boys and gender-diverse persons. They can also involve assessment of the intersection of women and men, girls and boys with other dimensions (such as by age, wealth quintile or ethnicity).

#### Industry: plastic producers and users

#### Issue: A lack of women in diverse roles in plastics production and the oil and gas industry is perpetuating gender inequality, and reducing profits and innovation

For companies, hiring more diverse women will lead to more innovation and allow them to better meet the needs of customers, and make healthier choices and higher profits. Women represent around a third of employees in the plastics industry<sup>55</sup> and a fifth of employees in the oil and gas industry<sup>56</sup> – a significantly smaller share of the workforce than in almost any other sector. Within oil and gas and plastics manufacturing, but also within industries that may use plastic packaging and products, women are also heavily under-represented in higher occupational levels and on boards. In Latin and South America, only 7% of company board seats are held by women. Similarly, just below 8% of board members in Asian companies are women, while in the Middle East it is slightly higher at 11% and in North America, 15%. Africa, Australasia and Europe have the highest representation of women on company boards, with 19%, 21% and 23% respectively.<sup>57</sup> Women's lower levels of representation in top decisionmaking positions means that decisions may not be informed in a balanced way by both women's and men's priority needs, capacities and potential solutions to problems.

Considering women are more likely to prioritize health and the environment<sup>58</sup> and make greener choices,<sup>59</sup> the added value of more women in these industries may be higher prioritization of corporate social responsibility, greener investments and design solutions, and a greater prioritization of health.

More women in diverse roles is also good for business. According to a 2019 report by the International Labour Organization (ILO), The Business Case for Change, "Most companies of all sizes around the world report that gender diversity helps improve business outcomes ... Of the companies surveyed that track the impact of gender diversity in management, 74 per cent report profit increases of 5 to 20 per cent."<sup>60</sup> The same principle holds true for diversity of all kinds, including race, ethnicity and disability. The more a team reflects society, the better placed it is to meets the needs and expectations of society.

### Solution: Increase diversity at all levels of the company $^{\rm 61}$

Strengthen the inflow of diverse women

 Promote STEM programmes among girls and young women, and offer scholarships and internships to high-potential female students, particularly those from marginalized communities.

- Establish clear recruiting targets for women and men, and develop appropriate key performance indicators (KPIs) for attracting and retaining women.
- Consider outside-the-box approaches to recruitment. Actively recruit in diverse femaledominated spheres and associations, and at linked events. Form bonds with associations for people with disabilities and minority groups and advertise for positions through them.
- Make job postings more inclusive. Focus job descriptions on the expectations of the role and remove female-alienating language.<sup>62, 63</sup>
- Ensure that bias and systemic barriers do not prevent diverse women candidates from entry.
- Establish clear evaluation criteria. Evaluation tools should also be easy to use and designed to gather objective, measurable input.
- Put evaluators through unconscious bias training, prioritizing entry-level positions. Candidates tend to have shorter track records early in their careers, and evaluators may make unfair, gendered or discriminatory assumptions about their future potential.
- Identify and remove structural barriers that thwart women's advancement in the company, particularly those from marginalized communities.
- Develop a larger number of visible and diverse female role models in the industry's senior ranks.

#### Engaging and supporting women workers

- Ensure that diverse women are aware of and are offered equal career advancement opportunities such as leadership training, sponsorship and high-profile assignments.
- Encourage women, and in particular those from marginalized communities, to make their career goals clear.
- Create more flexible career paths.
- Insist on the development of separate and sufficient facilities and accommodation for women working in field roles. Provide reasonable accommodation for the needs of women with disabilities.
- Actively dismantle enterprise cultures that require "anytime, anywhere" availability, which disproportionately affects women, given their household and family responsibilities.
- Insist that every executive and senior manager mentors at least one talented female employee.

- Make a firm and clear policy on sexual harassment, discrimination and bullying in the workplace and ensure a safe way to issue complaints that will not put the complainant's career at risk.
- Actively encourage greater flexibility in women's careers, especially in the early stages. This means specific policies embracing flexi-work, telework, part-time work, job-sharing, generous maternity and paternity leave, and a welcoming environment post-maternity leave, including pumping/breastfeeding facilities and time allocation. Encourage both male and female employees to take advantage of policies that encourage a better work-life balance.
- Give diverse women influential roles in developing those policies.
- Make gender equality and diversity training mandatory for all employees, especially leaders.

### Increase women's representation in senior leadership

- Work with women employees to create upward mobility goals and the necessary support to achieve them.
- Broaden the criteria for inclusion on the list of high-potential candidates.
- Apply uniform standards when making promotion decisions.
- Adopt an inclusive, gender-neutral approach to advancement, coupled with quantitative targets that support growth in diverse women's representation.
- Ensure that there is demonstrated commitment and accountability to gender balance and diversity from the top of the organization, especially the chief executive officer. This can be demonstrated by the chief executive officer signing on to the International Gender Champions and other similar initiatives and setting measurable targets.<sup>64</sup>

#### Issue: Safe exposure levels to plastics are not the same for women and men, and safety measures often do not reflect women's greater impact at lower exposure levels

Plastic pollution and exposure to plastics have a differential impact on women's and men's health. Employees who have to work directly with plastics and the chemicals needed to produce plastic products must not be exposed to harmful levels of toxic chemicals and plastics that are carcinogenic, mutagenic or reprotoxic substances and EDCs from plastics manufacturing and plastic additives.<sup>65</sup> See policy-makers/regulators section for an overview of the various disparities for women and men.

#### Solution: Review safety measures, redesign plastic production processes, substitute hazardous chemicals, incorporate green chemistry

- Review company safety measures to ensure that the policies are based on the most up-todate studies on safe exposure levels for both women and men.
- Redesign plastic production processes that expose female and male workers unnecessarily,

#### Innovators

#### Issue: Sustainable solutions to plastic pollution such as plastic alternatives need to take better account of the people who disproportionately purchase/use them

At the design and use level of the plastics value chain, gender equality is critical to designing sustainable alternatives. Due to prevailing gender norms in many cultures, the majority of household consumer decisions globally are made by women. Diverse studies have shown that women and men often have significantly different attitudes regarding environmental and ethical practices. Women in many cases are more likely to prioritize the environment and make greener choices when empowered to do so.<sup>67</sup> Any new plastics (or alternative) products consumed at the household level therefore will need to consider women's priorities and preferences as consumers and the people who make financial decisions with regard to household-level waste disposal. The Business Case for Change report by the ILO (2019) found companies with equal opportunities and gender-inclusive cultures are almost 60% more likely to experience greater creativity and innovation, yet women are still significantly under-represented in the STEM fields, as well as in the industrial design field.<sup>68</sup> If women are missing from design-side solutions with regard to plastic packaging and single-use plastics, new designs will be less innovative, and may inadvertently miss important gender-based factors that influence consumer behaviour and decisions.

#### Solution: More diverse innovators/designers and gender-sensitive market and product research and design

Companies engaged in design solutions and innovation should **create diverse teams and consult with diverse voices** throughout the design process in order to ensure that the solution will be effective and sustainable.<sup>69</sup> See diverse recruitment resources in the plastic production companies section just above.

#### Design solutions should undergo a gender

**analysis** to ensure that the solutions work for the people who will be using them and do not perpetuate harmful gender roles or create extra work for women, who already bear the disproportionate burden for unpaid domestic labour. Solutions should take into account: with a move towards automation, local exhaust systems, confinement, and wet methods to reduce dust or airborne particles.

- Work towards safe substitution of hazardous chemicals where possible.
- Incorporate green chemistry in corporate procurement and focus on reducing the use of toxic plastics and informed substitution principles in purchasing practices.<sup>66</sup>
- Who (female/male) is responsible for purchasing, using and/or disposing of the new solution proposed?
- Who (female/male) will be the end users of any new plastic products or similar function products made from alternative materials?
- How will these end users' (female/male) use of these products influence their design and marketing?
- What are female/male attitudes towards pricing regarding any additional costs needed to produce waste-free or fully recyclable products?
- How much unpaid time will the proposed solutions require from women and men in specific contexts?
- Will the solutions increase women's or men's workloads? If so, how will this be addressed in the solution design?
- How will the answers to these questions affect the different solutions developed to reduce plastic waste?

Prior to marketing, consumer and market studies should be undertaken that take both female and male consumer behaviour and priority needs related to plastic-based products and use into account. The results of these analyses should be used to help **develop gender-specific consumer and marketing strategies** (where needed). When developing a marketing strategy that is gendertargeted, it is important to consider:

- How will these solutions be marketed to potential customers/users? Does marketing reinforce harmful gender norms? Can marketing help dismantle harmful gender stereotypes and norms and normalize more equal sharing of the burden of unpaid domestic labour?
- For a better understanding of harmful gender stereotypes, see the UK's Advertising Standards Authority report Advertising Guidance on Depicting Gender Stereotypes Likely to Cause Harm or Serious or Widespread Offence.<sup>70</sup> As noted earlier, this provides some initial guidance on the types of stereotypes to avoid.

New products made with more sustainable materials or with genuinely compostable and safe plastics need to be tested by both male and female consumers as a part of their development and subsequent marketing.

 This includes personal care, cosmetics and cleaning products that are disproportionately used by women. Other products, such as industrial paint, may be used more by men in some countries.

 Safe exposure levels must take sex (biological differences) and gender (social factors such as who uses the product more) into account when considering safety.

#### Civil society and others in the plastic pollution action space

#### Issue: Currently, few anti-plastic pollution actors transparently and systematically include gender considerations and analysis in their platforms and actions

The plastic pollution action space is science-driven and dynamic, but a brief literature review from the online resources of several leading anti-plastic pollution actors indicates that gender has not been mainstreamed in data, reporting, solutions or communications.<sup>71</sup>

Gender equality is not one action alongside others; gender considerations should be integrated into all actions by all actors, resulting in gender equality.

#### Solution: Anti-plastic pollution actors systematically mainstream gender into their work, making actions and solutions more effective and sustainable

In order to mainstream gender and diversity considerations into programmes and processes, **following a guide and retaining some gender expertise** are a good place to start. There are currently no comprehensive resources on how to undertake gender mainstreaming specifically for the plastic pollution action space. However, there are resources aimed at gender mainstreaming in environmental management, and these are broad enough to be directly relevant to the plastics sector.<sup>72</sup>

One essential part of gender mainstreaming is to **conduct a relevant gender analysis** to inform planning, implementation, and monitoring and evaluation in actions to support the transition to a gender-inclusive circular plastics economy. These gender analyses will help inform the important gender-based issues for both women and men in the organization's sphere of action. Principles 1 and 2 of this guidance provide a good start for a gender analysis:

- Disaggregate collected and shared data by sex as well as other variables as appropriate. Include gender indicators in the collection of data where relevant.
- Once you identify a sex-based inequality in terms of risk, access, exposure, benefit or outcome, undertake an analysis of laws, policies, norms and practices to identify the causes of the inequality.

There are many tools online that can guide a more comprehensive overview of how to undertake a gender analysis. Searching for one that is specific to the organization's goal (project planning and implementation, behavioural change campaign, etc.) will often lead to more specific resources.<sup>73</sup>

Establishing a clear gender strategy that indicates not only measurable gender equality objectives but also the actions needed to meet the objectives ensures that gender mainstreaming will not be a one-off exercise but will be embedded for the whole course of the organization's actions. Objectives should be both programmatic (with a gender equality objective in its sphere of work) but also institutional: How will gender equality be embedded in processes to ensure that the organization is gender-equal, and that gender equality work will continue to be prioritized in the programmatic work for the duration of the work? All objectives and actions should include gendersensitive monitoring indicators and adequate resources to fund the proposed actions. An example of a gender strategy in the plastic pollution action space is the GPAP Gender Strategy.

#### Issue: Financing, investing and access to capital are harder to access for women, and particularly women from marginalized communities

Tackling plastic pollution will involve investing in several new areas, and financing new solutions, including research, waste management jobs, education and enforcement. There are significant gaps in the research surrounding the factors that limit the access of specific marginalized communities, such as women in the lowest wealth quintiles and in rural areas, to the opportunities and services provided by the financial sector and other forms of financing, compared with that of individuals from privileged communities in society. One study of 98 developing countries found that the significant gender gaps in using financial services were attributed to legal discrimination against women (legal restrictions in their ability to work, head a household, choose where to live and receive inheritance) and gender norms (the level of violence against women and the incidence of early marriage for women) to explain some of the cross-country variations in access to finance for women.<sup>74</sup> Another 2011 study, covering nine countries in sub-Saharan Africa, examined the gender gap in financial services and found that the lower use of formal financial services by women in these countries could be explained by gender differences in education and income levels, formal employment and whether they are the head of the household.<sup>75</sup> A 2008 study on the Middle East and North Africa region noted that access to capital is one of the biggest challenges faced by women in this particular region.<sup>76</sup> Where women cannot access formal capital, they often need to rely on informal sources of finance, which often have high rates of interest.<sup>77</sup>

Achieving equality and financial inclusion is an important way of unlocking resources for economic empowerment and encouraging growth, by enhancing access to economic opportunity for wider segments of society.<sup>78</sup>

#### Solution: undertake targeted investments by seeking out and systematically prioritizing women- and community-led projects, particularly those led by women from underfunded communities

Investors, funds and development banks can undertake targeted investments by seeking out and systematically prioritizing women- and communityled projects, particularly those led by women from underfunded communities. Prioritizing genderresponsive projects that benefit disproportionately affected communities ensures not only that funders benefit less-represented project implementers but also that the projects help dismantle the harmful gender and cultural norms that led to a lack of representation in the first place.

There are a number of ways to ensure gender is mainstreamed within funding:<sup>79</sup>

Ensure that those allocating funds are representative of the diversity of women and men in the society within which you are working and that they have some understanding of gender mainstreaming. For example, ensure that:

#### Academia

#### Issue: A lack of research and evidence on plastics related to sex and gender and their intersection with other identity factors<sup>81</sup>

There are gaps in knowledge regarding a) the intersection of sex and gender with other identity factors and b) how these intersecting identities affect exposure, risk and impact from plastic pollution; how plastics are purchased, used and discarded; participation and benefit in the plastics value chain; and policy decisions related to plastic pollution and transitioning to a circular plastics economy. More understanding is needed of the extent to which various intersecting identity factors relate to, affect or are a factor in a successful transition to a circular plastics economy.

- An equal number of women and men<sup>80</sup> are represented in the different parts of the allocation process
- Decision-makers in the allocation process have been instructed and have adequate knowledge with respect to gender and gender equality issues
- Diverse women and men have the same power and influence in the different parts of the allocation process

#### Ensure that women and men benefit equally from funding and that underfunded communities are prioritized for funding. For example, ensure that:

- An equal number of women and men benefit from the allocated grants. This entails considering not only how many women and men receive funding but also how many women and men benefit within implementing organizations and within the project itself.
- Women and men are allocated equal amounts of money through the grants. While grants may differ depending on the type of project or implementer, it is essential to be conscious that larger grants are not systematically granted to one gender.
- The gender distribution of approved grants is similar to the gender distribution of submitted requests.
- Applicants of the under-represented gender are given priority in cases where several applications are of similar quality.
- Consideration is given to prioritizing funding where the outcome of the projects granted funding contributes to increased gender equality.

#### Solution: Academic research is conducted into the plastics value chain, plastic pollution and the transition to the circular economy as they relate to the intersection of sex and gender with other identity factors.

Academic institutions/departments should identify the key research gaps with regard to the intersection of sex/gender with other identity factors and how they relate to the plastics value chain, plastic pollution action and what is needed to make the transition to a circular plastics economy.

The fact that there are gaps in knowledge should be disseminated to academics, scholars and researchers working in diverse relevant areas of work. Funding PhDs in this area is also a way of ensuring that research is undertaken. Institutions can work with the public, private and civil society sectors to raise funds for a call for research proposals to fill these critical knowledge gaps.

Institutions can also **hold information and dissemination sessions on the results of the research findings** from the call for research proposals. Institutions should also ensure that **any research proposals include a gendersensitive, intersectional research methodology** as part of the overall methodology prior to awarding them funding.

Additionally, institutions can **develop intersectional gender methodology guidelines** to help researchers integrate gender-sensitive methodology into research studies related to the transition to a circular plastics economy. There are many resources on how to undertake legal research from an intersectional approach. The Gender-Based Analysis Plus (GBA+) Research Guide from the Canadian government, for example, provides guiding questions that can assist in designing, undertaking or evaluating research, beginning with the development of the research question itself.<sup>82</sup> Some important guiding principles of intersectional research include:<sup>83</sup>

- Gender ≠ women. (See "A note on terms" in the introduction.) Gender also does not equal simply women and men. Gender is a social construct that ascribes to an individual roles, responsibilities, norms, aptitudes, behaviours and expectations. In reality, gender roles are affected by a variety of other identity factors including age, class, race, ethnicity, religion and ideology.
- Does your research look at the situation of women, men and gender-diverse people?
- All women are not the same; all men are not the same; all gender-diverse people are not the same. Does your research look at diverse groups of women, men and genderdiverse people?
- Avoid oversimplifying diversity. Does your research consider differences among diverse groups of women, men and gender-diverse people? It is important to understand the complexity of different aspects of identity or different socioeconomic factors. For example, research that does not distinguish between the experiences of diverse ethnic groups in waste management could mask important differences in benefit and needs.
- Individual versus household-level analysis. Does your household-level research also consider individual members and account for intra-household inequalities? Analysis and information gathered at the household level can hide intra-household gender differences and dynamics, i.e. one spouse/partner may spend much more time than the other on household plastic purchasing, use and disposal and

gendered decision-making power may be very different depending on location, income level or ethnicity, for example.

- Avoid overgeneralizing/overspecifying. Does your research ensure that it does not take one gender or population group as the norm? Overgeneralization occurs when a single group is considered the norm for all: i.e. a study of only one sex presumes that findings apply to both. Overspecificity occurs when research is reported in such a way as to make it impossible to determine whether it applies to one or both sexes. Many historical health studies, including those on safe plastic exposure levels, included more men than women or only men as participants, but presented the data as universal. To combat this, all population-related data should be collected and disaggregated by sex and other relevant identity factors. This disaggregated data should be analysed to determine if there are any significant differences in research findings between male and female research subjects and between the other identity factor as related to the research questions. To answer gender-specific questions, data collection methods should include the use of both qualitative and quantitative methodologies.
- Question data. Does your research consider the existence of bias in the data sources used or other resources consulted? Most data (quantitative or qualitative) is "constructed", i.e. shaped by the categories used to gather and interpret it, and – in the case of human subjects – by the way the research subject interprets and decides to react to what is being asked. In a large-scale survey questionnaire, this "social construction" (so called because of the influence of broad social norms on how we think about data) occurs largely during questionnaire design.

Institutions can also provide training to researchers on how to conduct gendersensitive research and gender analyses within the context of a larger-scale research question related to the plastics value chain, plastic pollution or the circular plastics economy. This would include information about the essential questions to ask to ensure a credible gender analysis and how to collect relevant qualitative data to support the gender analysis in different contexts.

## Contributors

This Guidance to Ensure Gender-Responsive Action in Eliminating Plastic Pollution was created by the Global Plastic Action Partnership (GPAP) to make the plastic pollution action space and value chain more inclusive of intersectional gender considerations and perspectives. Its development was guided by a literature review of existing work in the plastics sector, key informant interviews with members of the Global and National Plastic Action Partnership and a consultation workshop with leading gender and environment experts in July 2020.

The main author of the GPAP Gender Strategy is **Katherine Gilchrist**, Gender and Human Rights Consultant. The strategy was also made possible by the contributions of **Madeleine Brandes**, GPAP knowledge specialist and Project Lead for gender; **Kristin Hughes**, Director of GPAP; as well as team members **Nour Chaabane**, **Roisin Greene**, **Adviya Khan**, **Sri Mastuti** (Indonesia gender adviser), **Elsie Odonkor** (Ghana gender adviser), **Lai Sanders** and **Heather Troutman**.

We are particularly grateful to the experts who lent us their time and insights during and after the consultation workshop, including:

Abdikarim Ali, Environment and Climate Change Canada, Canada

Agnes Sosio, Global Affairs Canada, Indonesia

Berit Gleixner, World Economic Forum, Switzerland

**Chever Voltmer**, Ocean Conservancy, United States

**Conrad Jefferies**, Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs, United Kingdom

Dany Drouin, Environment and Climate Change Canada, Canada

**Doan Vu Thao Ly**, Center for Environment and Community Research, Viet Nam

**Dorcas Ansah**, Women in Informal Employment: Globalizing and Organizing, Ghana

Ha Trinh Thai, Viet Nam National Plastic Action Partnership and WWF, Viet Nam

**Gabriela Richardson Temm**, Global Environment Facility, United States

Gail Tavill, Alliance to End Plastic Waste, United States

Hanna Jager, Nestlé, Switzerland

Jackie Siles, International Union for Conservation of Nature

Jenna Jambeck, University of Georgia, United States

Joy Anderson, Criterion Institute, United States

**Leah Karrer**, Global Environment Facility, United States

**Kirana Agustina**, Indonesia National Plastic Action Partnership and World Resources Institute, Indonesia

Maria Koernia Dewi, SYSTEMIQ, Indonesia

Mark Weick, Alliance to End Plastic Waste, United States

Melisande Schifter, World Economic Forum, Switzerland

Morgane Rivoal, UNDP, Viet Nam

Natalie Çilem, World Economic Forum, Switzerland

Nilufer Demirkol, Nestlé, Switzerland

Ngoc Ly Nguyen, Center for Environment and Community Research, Viet Nam

**Owusu Boampong**, Women in Informal Employment: Globalizing and Organizing, Ghana

Shawn Hayes, Global Affairs Canada, Canada

Susan Wingfield, Secretariat of the Basel, Rotterdam, and Stockholm Conventions, Switzerland

**Taylor Cass Talbott**, Women in Informal Employment: Globalizing and Organizing, United States

Tuti Hadiputranto, United in Diversity, Indonesia

Van Son Le, Global Affairs Canada, Viet Nam

Will Scott-Kemmis, SecondMuse, Singapore

## Endnotes

1

- United Nations Industrial Development Organization, "Guide on Gender Mainstreaming Environmental Management Projects", 2015, <u>https://www.unido.org/sites/default/files/2015-02/Gender\_Environmental Management\_Projects\_0.pdf</u> (link as of 29/7/20).
- Principles 1 and 2 of this guidance provide a good start for a gender analysis. There are many tools online that can guide a more comprehensive overview of how to undertake a gender analysis. Searching for one that is specific to your goal (project planning/implementation/behavioural change campaign, etc.) will often lead to more specific resources. See, for example, this gender analysis tool from the European Institute for Gender Equality, <a href="https://eige.europa.eu/gender-mainstreaming/methods-tools/gender-analysis">https://eige.europa.eu/gender-mainstreaming/methods-tools/gender-analysis</a>; and the guide from the United Nations Development Programme, "How to Conduct a Gender Analysis: Guidance Note for UNDP Staff" (aimed at staff but applicable to a wider audience), <a href="https://info.undp.org/sites/bpps/SES\_Toolkit/SES%20Document%20Library/Uploaded%20October%202016/UNDP%20Guidance%20Note%20how%20to%20conduct%20a%20gender%20analysis.pdf">https://www.undocument%20Library/Uploaded%20October%202016/UNDP%20Guidance%20Note%20how%20to%20conduct%20a%20gender%20analysis.pdf</a>; Annex III and IV of the "Guide on Gender Mainstreaming Environmental Management Projects" from the United Nations Industrial Development Organization, <a href="https://info.undp.type://info.undp.type://info.undp.type://info.undp.com/sites/dogs20gender%20analysis.pdf">https://info.undp.type://inf
- 3 Identity factors such as race, ethnicity, age, disability, religion, sexual orientation, etc.
- 4 General Assembly resolution 66/288 adopted by the United Nations General Assembly in the context of the United Nations Conference on Sustainable Development in 2012 (Rio+20).
- 5 United Nations Industrial Development Organization, "Guide on Gender Mainstreaming Environmental Management Projects", 2015, <u>https://www.unido.org/sites/default/files/2015-02/Gender Environmental Management Projects 0.pdf</u> (link as of 29/7/20).
- 6 The concept of mainstreaming can be intimidating for people and organizations new to the concept. See "A note on terms" for an overview and some resources that help explain how this concept can work for you and your organization.
- 7 United Nations Industrial Development Organization, "Guide on Gender Mainstreaming: Environment Management Projects", 2015, p. 4, <u>https://www.wrforum.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/10/Gender</u> <u>Environmental Management Projects.pdf</u> (link as of 29/7/20).
- 8 Gender mainstreaming is a strategy that was formally included in the Beijing Platform for Action in 1995 and is most often defined by the 1997 United Nations Economic and Social Council (ECOSOC) interpretation of the term: "Mainstreaming a gender perspective is the process of assessing the implications for women and men of any planned action, including legislation, policies or programs, in any area and at all levels. It is a strategy for making women's as well as men's concerns and experiences an integral dimension in the design, implementation, monitoring and evaluation of policies and programmes in all political, economic and societal spheres so that women and men benefit equally and inequality is not perpetuated. The ultimate goal is to achieve gender equality."
- 9 Merriam-Webster dictionary.
- 10 See this scale for more details: "WHO Gender Responsive Assessment Scale", <u>https://www.who.int/gender/mainstreaming/GMH Participant GenderAssessmentScale.pdf</u> (link as of 29/7/20).
- 11 Ibid.
- 12 Woroniuk, Beth, and Johanna Schalkwyk, *Waste Disposal and Equality between Women and Men*, Sida: Stockholm, 1998.
- 13 Ocean Conservancy/GT Circular, "The Role of Gender in Waste Management: Gender Perspectives on Waste in India, Indonesia, the Philippines and Viet Nam", 2019. p. 9.
- 14 Ibid; Bellingham, M. and Sharpe, R., "Chemical Exposures During Pregnancy: Dealing with Potential, but Unproven Risks to Child Health", Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynecologists. Scientific Impact Paper (37), 2013, <u>https://www.rcog.org.uk/globalassets/documents/guidelines/scientific-impact-papers/ sip\_37.pdf</u> (link of 29/7/20). Cited in Women Engage for a Common Future (WECF), "Women Engage for a Common Future, Plastics, Gender and the Environment", Utrecht: WECF, 2017.
- 15 Keith, M. et al., "Plastics Industry Workers and Breast Cancer Risk: Are We Heeding the Warnings?" in Scott, D. N. (ed.), *Our Chemical Selves: Gender, Toxics and Environmental Health*, Vancouver, British Columbia, University of British Columbia Press, 2015.
- 16 Women Engage for a Common Future (WECF), "Women Engage for a Common Future: Plastics, Gender and the Environment", p. 10.
- 17 European Institute of Gender Equality (EIGE), "Gender Mainstreaming, Policy Areas: Energy", <u>http://eige.</u> <u>europa.eu/gender-mainstreaming/policy-areas/energy</u> (link as of 29/7/20); Ocean Conservancy/GT Circular, "The Role of Gender in Waste Management: Gender Perspectives on Waste in India, Indonesia, the Philippines and Viet Nam", p. 29.

- 18 International Labour Organization, "Gender Equality and Old-Age Income Security: The Case of Mexico"; 2019, <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---inst/documents/publication/wcms\_734942.</u> pdf; International Labour Organization, "Fact Sheet No. 4: Women Face More Economic Insecurity", <u>https://www.ilo.org/public/english/protection/ses/download/docs/sheet\_no4.pdf</u> (links as of 29/7/20).
- 19 See the European Institute of Gender Equality's guidance on gender statistics and indicators for how to sexdisaggregate and create gender indicators: European Institute of Gender Equality, "Gender Mainstreaming, Methods and Tools: Gender Statistics and Indicators", <u>https://eige.europa.eu/gender-mainstreaming/</u> <u>methods-tools/gender-statistics-indicators</u> (link as of 30/7/20).
- 20 See, for example, the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe and the World Bank Institute tool on "Developing Gender Statistics: A Practical Tool", <u>http://www.unece.org/fileadmin/DAM/stats/</u> <u>publications/Developing\_Gender\_Statistics.pdf</u> (link as of 29/7/20).
- 21 United Nations Environment Programme and International Union for the Conservation of Nature, "Gender and Environment Statistics: Unlocking Information for Action and Measuring the SDGs", UN Environment, Nairobi, Kenya, 2018, p. 81. The United Nations Statistics Division compiles data on paid and unpaid work, collected via national time-use surveys supplemented by the European Statistical System (Eurostat), the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD), the United Nations Economic Commission for Europe (UNECE) and the United Nations Economic Commission for Latin America and the Caribbean (UNELAC) (UNSD, 2016).
- 22 For example, academic literature, industry reports and publications, reports by government, international organizations, associations or unions in your sphere of practice.
- For an overview and some resources for how to undertake a gender analysis, see the Gender Analysis page from the Government of Canada: <u>https://www.international.gc.ca/world-monde/funding-financement/gender\_analysis-analyse\_comparative.aspx?lang=eng</u> (link as of 29/7/20).
- 24 Government of Canada, "Gender-Based Analysis Plus, GBA+", <u>https://cfc-swc.gc.ca/gba-acs/course-cours-en.html</u> (link as of 29/7/20).
- A good example is the ILO Participatory Gender Audit: International Training Centre, "ILO Participatory Gender Audit: A Tool for Introducing and Managing Institutional Change", <u>https://www.itcilo.org/resources/</u> ilo-participatory-gender-audit (link as of 29/7/20).
- 26 See the two new international standards (Convention No. 190, Recommendation No. 206, Eliminating Violence and Harassment in the World of Work) outlining steps for governments and employers to take: International Labour Organization, "Eliminating Harassment in the World of Work", <u>https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/---publ/documents/publication/wcms\_721160.pdf</u> (link as of 29/7/20).
- 27 United Nations Women Training for Gender Equality Community of Practice, <u>https://trainingcentre.</u> <u>unwomen.org/portal/product/community-of-practice-training-for-gender-equality/</u> (link as of 31/7/20).
- 28 United Nations Women, "Compendium of Good Practices in Training for Gender Equality", <u>http://www.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2016/5/compendium-of-good-practices-in-training-for-gender-equality</u> (link as of 29/7/20).
- 29 Government of Canada, "Gender-Based Analysis Plus, GBA+".
- 30 Adapted from the World Health Organization definition of meaningful participation, <u>https://www.who.int/gender-equity-rights/understanding/participation-definition/en/</u> (link as of 29/7/20).
- 31 For example, the Inclusive Event Planning resource from the Government of Canada, <u>https://cfc-swc.gc.ca/gba-acs/inclusive-inclusif-en.html</u>; or the Inclusive and Accessible Event Planning Checklist from the Think Tank Initiative, <u>http://events.thinktankinitiative.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/11/Clean-Gender-Checklist-EN.pdf</u> (links as of 29/7/20).
- 32 International Gender Champions: Support the IGC Panel Parity Pledge", <u>https://s3.eu-west-2.amazonaws.</u> <u>com/igc-production/files/Nnn34foqvO9oFQRSWWazinexpuKIIdNv.pdf</u>. See here for other pledges senior members of international organizations, embassies, companies and Government have made: <u>https:// genderchampions.com/</u> (links as of 29/7/20).
- 33 Women Engage for a Common Future (WECF), "Women Engage for a Common Future, Plastics, Gender and the Environment", p. 7.
- 34 Ocean Conservancy/GT Circular, "The Role of Gender in Waste Management: Gender Perspectives on Waste in India, Indonesia, the Philippines and Viet Nam", p. 9.
- 35 Ibid.
- 36 Formalizing the waste management sector in Indonesia is predicted to potentially put informal female waste pickers and recyclers out of work as many may find that the time shifts offered are difficult to juggle with their household-level responsibilities. Interview, SystemIQ (GPAP partner in Indonesia) personnel, 19 May 2019.
- Ocean Conservancy/GT Circular, "The Role of Gender in Waste Management: Gender Perspectives on Waste in India, Indonesia, the Philippines and Viet Nam", p. 10; International Labour Organization, "Extension of Social Protection: Extending Social Security Coverage to the Informal Economy", <u>https://www. ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed\_emp/---emp\_policy/documents/publication/wcms\_210466.pdf</u> (link as of 29/7/20).

- 38 Women Engage for a Common Future (WECF), "Women Engage for a Common Future, Plastics, Gender and the Environment", p. 10.
- Julvez, J. and Grandjean, P., "Neurodevelopmental Toxicity Risks due to Occupational Exposure to Industrial Chemicals during Pregnancy", *Industrial Health*, 47(5), 2009: 459–468. Cited in Women Engage for a Common Future (WECF), "Women Engage for a Common Future, Plastics, Gender and the Environment", p. 22; Bellingham, M. and Sharpe, R., "Chemical Exposures During Pregnancy: Dealing with Potential, but Unproven Risks to Child Health", Royal College of Obstetricians and Gynaecologists Scientific Impact Paper (37), 2013, <u>https://www.rcog.org.uk/globalassets/documents/guidelines/scientific-impact-papers/sip\_37.</u> pdf (link as of 29/7/20). Cited in Women Engage for a Common Future (WECF), "Women Engage for a Common Future, Plastics, Gender and the Environment".
- 40 Women Engage for a Common Future (WECF), "Women Engage for a Common Future, Plastics, Gender and the Environment", p. 22; Crampton, L., "Microplastics in the Environment and in the Human Body", Owlcation, 1 April 2019, <u>https://owlcation.com/stem/Microplastics-in-the-Human-Body-and-Potential-Health-Effects</u> (link as of 29/7/20).
- 41 Julvez and Grandjean, "Neurodevelopmental Toxicity Risks due to Occupational Exposure to Industrial Chemicals during Pregnancy". Cited in Women Engage for a Common Future (WECF), "Women Engage for a Common Future, Plastics, Gender and the Environment", p. 22.
- 42 Keith et al., "Plastics Industry Workers and Breast Cancer Risk: Are We Heeding the Warnings?", pp. 333–363. In Scott, D. N. (ed.), *Our Chemical Selves: Gender, Toxics and Environmental Health*. Cited in Women Engage for a Common Future (WECF), "Women Engage for a Common Future, Plastics, Gender and the Environment", p. 24.
- 43 Women Engage for a Common Future (WECF), "Women Engage for a Common Future, Plastics, Gender and the Environment", p. 10.
- 44 Ibid, p. 58.
- 45 Woroniuk and Schalkwyk, *Waste Disposal and Equality between Women and Men*, p. 2.
- 46 Poswa, T. T., "The Importance of Gender in Waste Management Planning: A Challenge for Solid Waste Managers", Durban: Durban Institute of Technology, N.D., p. 4.
- 47 European Institute of Gender Equality (EIGE), "Gender Mainstreaming, Policy Areas: Energy", <u>http://eige.</u> <u>europa.eu/gender-mainstreaming/policy-areas/energy</u> (link as of 29/7/20).
- 48 Ocean Conservancy/GT Circular, "The Role of Gender in Waste Management: Gender Perspectives on Waste in India, Indonesia, the Philippines and Viet Nam", p. 29.
- 49 Ibid., p. 10.
- 50 For example, absorbing blame for household plastics entering the environment despite frequently lacking options or alternatives. Braun, Y. and Traore, A., "Plastic Bags, Pollution, and Identity: Women and the Gendering of Globalization and Environmental Responsibility in Mali", *Gender & Society*, 29, DOI: 10.1177/0891243215602101.
- 51 United Nations Women, "Redistribute Unpaid Work", <u>https://www.unwomen.org/en/news/in-focus/csw61/</u> redistribute-unpaid-work#:~:text=Around%20the%20world%2C%20women%20do,valued%20less%20 <u>than%20paid%20work</u> (link as of 29/7/20).
- 52 Committee of Advertising Practice, "Advertising Guidance on Depicting Gender Stereotypes Likely to Cause Harm or Serious or Widespread Offence", <u>https://www.asa.org.uk/uploads/assets/uploaded/596b5237-</u> <u>27a5-444c-9b4811732f4a51e5.pdf</u> (link as of 29/7/20).
- 53 Oxfam and the Women's Budget Group, "A Guide to Gender-Responsive Budgeting", 2018, <u>https://oxfamilibrary.openrepository.com/bitstream/handle/10546/620429/gt-guide-gender-responsive-budgeting-280218-en.pdf;jsessionid=98663599331243B560A83E30CE7FA7B4?sequence=13 (link as of 29/7/20).</u>
- For some other resources, see: Budlender, D. and Hewitt, G., "Engendering Budgets: A Practitioners' Guide to Understanding and Implementing Gender-Responsive Budgets", Commonwealth Secretariat, 2003, <u>http://www.internationalbudget.org/wp-content/uploads/2011/01/Engendering\_Budgets\_final\_doc.pdf;</u> Quinn, S., "Gender Budgeting: Practical Implementation Handbook", Directorate General of Human Rights and Legal Affairs, Council of Europe, 2009, <u>https://rm.coe.int/CoERMPublicCommonSearchServices/</u> <u>DisplayDCTMContent?documentId=0900001680599885;</u> Schneider, K., "Manual for Training on Gender Responsive Budgeting", GTZ, 2006, <u>https://www.ndi.org/sites/default/files/Manual%20for%20Training%20</u> <u>on%20Gender%20Responsive%20Budgeting.pdf;</u> UN Women has produced a large number of resources on gender-responsive budgeting, for example, "Gender Responsive Budgeting in Practice: A Training Manual", <u>https://www.unwomen.org/en/digital-library/publications/2010/1/gender-responsive-budgeting-in-practice-a-training-manual</u> (links as of 29/7/20).
- 55 Women Engage for a Common Future (WECF), "Women Engage for a Common Future, Plastics, Gender and the Environment".
- 56 World Petroleum Council and the Boston Consulting Group, "Untapped Reserves: Promoting Gender Balance in Oil and Gas", 2017, <u>https://www.bcg.com/en-us/publications/2017/energy-environment-people-organization-untapped-reserves.aspx</u> (link as of 29/7/20).

- 57 Deloitte Global Centre for Corporate Governance, "Women in the Boardroom: A Global Perspective", 2017, https://www2.deloitte.com/content/dam/Deloitte/za/Documents/technology-media-telecommunications/ za Wome in the boardroom a global perspective fifth\_edition.pdf (link as of 29/7/20).
- A 2010 study found that women tend to perceive various hazards as more risky in comparison to men and are generally less willing than men to impose health and environmental risks on others. Finucane, M. et al., "Gender, Race, and Perceived Risk: The 'White Male' Effect", *Health, Risk & Society*, 2(2), 2010: 159–172, <u>http://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/713670162?journalCode=chrs20#.VdNcJ8BTiZJ.mendeley</u> (link as of 29/7/20); cited in Women Engage for a Common Future (WECF), "Women Engage for a Common Future, Plastics, Gender and the Environment", p. 9.
- 59 Zelezny, L., Poh-Pheng, C. and Aldrich, C., "New Ways of Thinking about Environmentalism: Elaborating on Gender Differences in Environmentalism", Journal of Social Issues, 56(3), 2000, <u>https://spssi.onlinelibrary.</u> wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1111/0022-4537.00177; Kallgren, C., Reno, R. and Cialdini, R., "A Focus Theory of Normative Conduct: When Norms Do and Do Not Affect Behaviour", Personality and Social Psychology Bulletin, 1 October 2000, <u>https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/01461672002610009</u>; Räty, R. and Carlsson-Kanyama, A., "Energy Consumption by Gender in Some European Countries", Energy Policy, 38(10), 2010: 646–649, <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0301421509005977</u> (links as of 29/7/20).
- 60 See also this literature review undertaken by the International Centre for Research on Women on studies indicating the business case for more women in the labour force and management: <u>https://www.icrw.org/</u> <u>wp-content/uploads/2017/10/Advisors-The-Business-Case-for-Gender-Diversity.pdf.</u> See also Noland, R. and Moran, T., "Study: Firms with Women in the C-Suite Are More Profitable", *Harvard Business Review*, 8 February 2016, <u>https://hbr.org/2016/02/study-firms-with-more-women-in-the-c-suite-are-more-profitable</u> (links as of 29/7/20).
- 61 Guidance adapted from diverse sources, including: *Harvard Business Review*, "How to Recruit More Women to Your Company", 2019: McKinsey, "Women in the Workplace", 2019; International Labour Office, "Women in Business and Management: The Business Case for Change", 2019; World Petroleum Council and the Boston Consulting Group, "Untapped Reserves: Promoting Gender Balance in Oil and Gas", 2017.
- 62 In a LinkedIn Language Matters Report, 44% of women were found to be discouraged from applying to a job if the description included the word "aggressive", <u>https://business.linkedin.com/content/dam/me/business/enus/talent-solutions-lodestone/body/pdf/Linkedin-Language-Matters-Report-FINAL2.pdf</u> (link as of 29/7/20).
- Apps such as Textio Hire can be useful as they uses data science to highlight problematic words or phrases in job descriptions and suggest language that will attract more diverse applicants. Other recruiter tools include: Toggl Hire, a piece of skills-based screening software (through an anonymous exam) designed to provide an initial list of the candidates with the most potential, without looking at subjective factors such as age, gender, education and previous work experience; GapJumpers, which asks candidates to provide anonymous answers to assignments related to the roles for which they are applying; Blendoor, a merit-based job-matching app; Entelo Diversity, a diverse candidate-sourcing platform; pymetrics, a screening phase of hiring in which applicants spend about 20 minutes playing behaviour-based games to measure inherent traits, and if their results match the required profile of a certain position, they can move on to the next round; Talent Sonar, a "blind" resumé software that also helps hiring managers to develop job postings that will attract a wide range of candidates, and structure job interviews that focus on the candidate's specific qualifications.
- 64 International Gender Champions, <u>https://genderchampions.com/</u> (link as of 29/7/20).
- 65 Adapted from Women Engage for a Common Future (WECF), "Women Engage for a Common Future, Plastics, Gender and the Environment"; WECF (a), "Gender Dimensions of Hazardous Chemicals and Waste Policies under the Basel, Rotterdam and Stockholm Conventions", Utrecht: WECF, 2017.
- 66 Ibid.
- 67 Zelezny, Poh-Pheng and Aldrich, "New Ways of Thinking about Environmentalism: Elaborating on Gender Differences in Environmentalism"; Kallgren, Reno and Cialdini, "A Focus Theory of Normative Conduct: When Norms Do and Do Not Affect Behaviour"; Räty and Carlsson-Kanyama, "Energy Consumption by Gender in Some European Countries.
- 68 Walker, A., "Women in Industrial Design: Where My Ladies At?", GOOD, 8 November 2010, <u>https://www.good.is/articles/women-in-industrial-design-where-my-ladies-at</u> (link as of 29/7/20).
- 69 Consider not only gender but diverse women and men, including people with disabilities, older and younger persons, those with differing income, educations levels and religious and ethnic backgrounds, both rural and urban.
- 70 Committee of Advertising Practice, "Advertising Guidance on Depicting Gender Stereotypes Likely to Cause Harm or Serious or Widespread Offence".
- 71 There are several examples of excellent gender-specific reports from, for example, Women Engage for a Common Future and the GA Circular/Ocean Conservancy.

- An important example is the United Nations Industrial Development Organization's "Guide on Gender Mainstreaming Environmental Management Projects", 2015, <u>https://www.unido.org/sites/default/</u> <u>files/2015-02/Gender Environmental Management Projects 0.pdf</u> (link as of 29/7/20). This resource includes a step-by-step process for mainstreaming, as well as templates for conducting regional-, country- and sectorlevel gender analysis plus model codes of conduct, trainings and terms of reference for gender experts.
- 73 See, for example, this gender analysis tool from the European Institute for Gender Equality: <u>https://eige.europa.eu/gender-mainstreaming/methods-tools/gender-analysis;</u> and the guide from the United Nations Development Programme, "How To Conduct A Gender Analysis: Guidance Note for UNDP Staff" (for staff but applicable to a wider audience), <u>https://info.undp.org/sites/bpps/SES\_Toolkit/SES%20Document%20\_Library/Uploaded%20October%202016/UNDP%20Guidance%20Note%20how%20to%20conduct%20\_a%20gender%20analysis.pdf;</u> Annex III and IV of the "Guide On Gender Mainstreaming Environmental Management Projects" from the United Nations Industrial Development Organization, <u>https://www.unido.org/sites/default/files/2015-02/Gender\_Environmental\_Management\_Projects\_0.pdf</u> (links as of 29/7/20).
- 74 Demirguc-Kunt, A., Klapper, L. and Singer, D., "Financial Inclusion and Legal Discrimination Against Women: Evidence from Developing Countries", World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 6416, 2013 <u>http://</u> <u>documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/801311468330257772/pdf/wps6416.pdf</u> (link as of 29/7/20).
- 75 Aterido, R., Beck, T. and Iacovone, L., "Gender and Finance in Sub-Saharan Africa: Are Women Disadvantaged?", World Bank Policy Research Paper 5571, 2011, <u>http://documents1.worldbank.org/</u> <u>curated/en/573691468204244355/pdf/WPS5571.pdf</u> (link as of 29/7/20).
- 76 Chamlou, N., "The Environment for Women's Entrepreneurship in the Middle East and North Africa Region", World Bank Report No 44117, 2008, <u>http://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/510301468052733439/</u> pdf/448240PUB0Box310only109780821374955.pdf (link as of 29/7/20).
- 77 Chavan, P., and Birajdar, B., "Micro Finance and Financial Inclusion of Women: An Evaluation", Reserve Bank of India Occasional Papers, 30(2), 2009, <u>https://www.rbi.org.in/scripts/bs\_viewcontent.aspx?ld=2241</u> (link as of 29/7/20).
- 78 Morsy, H. and Youssef, H., "Access to Finance Mind the Gender Gap", European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, 2017, <u>https://www.ebrd.com/documents/oce/access-to-finance-mind-the-gender-gap.</u> pdf (link as of 29/7/20).
- 79 Compiled and adapted from: Swedish Secretariat for Gender Research, "Gender Mainstreaming of the Allocation of Grants", 2014, <u>https://www.includegender.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/06/Gender-mainstreaming-of-the-allocation-of-grants-pdf.pdf</u> (link as of 29/7/20).
- As discussed previously, gender equality goes beyond the concepts of women and men. The most privileged women in society may be more represented than the least privileged men in society. It is important to ensure that diverse women and men, particularly from historically marginalized communities, are proportionately represented.
- 81 Identity factors such as ethnicity, age, disability, religion, sexual orientation, etc.
- 82 Government of Canada, "Gender-Based Analysis Plus, GBA+".
- 83 The list is adapted from the GBA+ Research Checklist from the Canadian government, "Gender Based Analysis Plus, GBA+".



#### COMMITTED TO IMPROVING THE STATE OF THE WORLD

The World Economic Forum, committed to improving the state of the world, is the International Organization for Public-Private Cooperation.

The Forum engages the foremost political, business and other leaders of society to shape global, regional and industry agendas.

#### World Economic Forum

91–93 route de la Capite CH-1223 Cologny/Geneva Switzerland

Tel.: +41 (0) 22 869 1212 Fax: +41 (0) 22 786 2744 contact@weforum.org www.weforum.org